**RECEIVED**

**May 13 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Grace Knie, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001716

Andrea Allen, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Albert Charles  
Jeffries, deceased, ..... Respondent,

v.

Chi Hun Lim, M.D., Megan Nicholas, P.A., and Carolina Orthopaedic and  
Neurological Associates, PA, ..... Appellants.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT CHI HUN LIM, M.D.**

Wesley B. Sawyer, Esquire  
S.C. Bar # 100229  
John Grantland, Esquire  
S.C. Bar # 64158  
Post Office Box 6648  
Columbia, South Carolina 29260

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **Whether Defendant Lim is entitled to judgment notwithstanding the verdict because the Plaintiff failed to prove the requisite standard of care for an orthopedic surgeon, failed to prove breach of any standard of care, and failed to prove proximate cause between any breach by Defendant Lim and the injuries sustained by Decedent, or whether, at minimum, Plaintiff failed to present reasonable evidence that Defendant Lim was grossly negligent?**
- II. **Whether Defendant Lim is entitled to a new trial where the Circuit Court prejudicially erred in denying the Defendants' Motion to Amend their Answer to include an independent/intervening/superseding-cause affirmative defense when Defendants moved to add such defense more than a month before trial, Plaintiff failed to show any prejudice resulting from such amendment, and the evidence supported such an amendment.**
- III. **Whether Defendant Lim is entitled to a new trial or, at a minimum, remittitur where the Circuit Court erroneously listed a statutory beneficiary on the verdict form, permitting the jury to award damages to the beneficiary, which resulted in double recovery for the estate.**
- IV. **Whether the Circuit Court's Order awarding Plaintiff prejudgment interest should be vacated because Plaintiff failed to satisfy the requirements of Rule 68, SCRCP, by making a "joint" offer to Defendants and failing to serve CONA PA, the actual employer of Defendants Lim and Nicholas.**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action arises out of the July 28, 2018, death of Albert Jefferies from a pulmonary embolism ("PE") while he was at Peachtree Centre Skilled Nursing Facility ("Peachtree"), an inpatient rehabilitation facility. From July 18, 2018 to July 26, 2018, Jefferies was at Spartanburg Regional Medical Center ("Spartanburg Regional") following spinal surgery performed by Defendant Chi Hun Lim, M.D. Post-surgery, Defendants Lim and Megan Nicholas attended to Jefferies' post-surgery needs. Spartanburg Medical hospital staff and hospitalists managed his non-surgical medical needs, including making the determination of when he was medically ready for discharge.

While under Defendant Lim's care at Spartanburg Regional, Defendants Lim and Nicholas ordered prophylaxis – both mechanical and chemical – to prevent deep vein thrombosis ("DVT") and

PE. When he was discharged to Peachtree's care, Spartanburg Regional was responsible for transferring the treatment records and notes from Mr. Jefferies' stay at Spartanburg Regional – a routine practice performed by the hospital. Upon arrival at Peachtree, Peachtree's admitting physician and medical director Dr. Alfred Ezman waited nearly twenty-four hours before assessing Mr. Jefferies and, when he did, he did not prescribe any prophylaxis for DVT or PE. When Mr. Jefferies began exhibiting signs of a PE, Dr. Ezman did not perform the requisite test to diagnose the PE. Mr. Jefferies was found unresponsive at around 4:30 a.m. on July 28, 2018.

Despite the undisputed fact that Defendant Lim properly treated Mr. Jefferies with DVT and PE prophylaxis during his stay at Spartanburg Regional and that his notes accurately reflected that treatment, Plaintiff sued Defendants Lim and Nicholas alleging they should have continued Jefferies' chemical prophylaxis post-discharge – something Defendant Lim and his testifying expert, with a combined experience of over 41 years and 48,000 patients, confirmed they had never done – and that they should have ensured the treatment notes made it to Peachtree – even though the hospital was the entity responsible for delivering medical records to Peachtree.

Plaintiff originally included the hospital, Peachtree and Dr. Ezman as defendants, but she dropped them prior to trial, at which point – more than a month before trial – Defendants Lim and Nicholas sought leave to amend their answer to assert Dr. Ezman's intervening negligence. Even though Plaintiff expressly pled Dr. Ezman's negligence in her Complaint, the Circuit Court denied that motion. As a result, the jury was never charged on intervening negligence. The jury found against Defendants Lim and Nicholas. Additionally, although the only plaintiff in the case is Andrea Allen, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Albert Charles Jefferies, the Circuit Court approved a verdict form that had separate damages lines for Plaintiff and for one of the statutory beneficiaries. Faced with two damages lines, the jury purported to award \$3 million to the Plaintiff and \$3 million

to the statutory beneficiary – an apparent double recovery.

Finally, Plaintiff made a joint offer of judgment to three defendants. Plaintiff did not obtain a verdict or judgment against all three recipients of the offer of judgment. Nonetheless, the Circuit Court awarded prejudgment interest based on the offer of judgment. This timely appeal followed.

## **FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND**

### **I. Mr. Jefferies’ Medical Care at Spartanburg Regional**

On July 18, 2018, Albert Jefferies underwent a successful revision lumbar fusion surgery at Spartanburg Regional. (Second Am. Compl. ¶¶ 9, 23). The surgical team consisted of Dr. Chi Hun Lim, PA Rebecca Lehman, and PA Megan Nicholas. Dr. Lim is an orthopedic surgeon and partner of Carolina Orthopaedic and Neurosurgical Associates, P.A. (“CONA PA”), and PA Lehman and PA Nicholas are physician assistants employed by CONA PA. (Lim Dep. 7:22–8:6; 19:9–20:8); (Trial Tr. 93:19-24; 316:23–318:8). Dr. Lim performed the surgery, assisted by PA Lehman. (*Id.*). There were no complications during surgery. (Lim Dep. 19:9–20:8).

PA Nicholas and PA Lehman worked in weekly rotation: for one week PA Lehman would handle surgery and hospital rounding while PA Nicholas handled office work, and the next week they would switch roles. (Nicholas Dep. 8:15–9:7; 10:13–20). PA Nicholas was not directly involved in Mr. Jefferies’s surgery but instead in his postoperative care. (*Id.* at 8:15–9:7).

#### **A. Mr. Jefferies’ surgical team managed the surgical course, while the hospitalists managed the non-surgical medical issues.**

After surgery, Dr. Lim and his team’s role was to manage the surgical aspects of recovery, including the wound, pain control, restrictions on ambulation and therapy, DVT prophylaxis, and determining whether the patient was surgically stable to leave the hospital. (Lim Dep. 14:13–16:3; 24:21–25:9; 60:21–62:1); (Nicholas Dep. 13:1–15:5). By contrast, consistent with the ordinary division of responsibility between orthopedic surgical teams and hospitalists, non-surgical medical

issues, including medical clearance for discharge and discharge medication reconciliation, were handled by Spartanburg Regional's hospitalists (Dr. Gudger and Dr. Botts). (*Id.*); (Trial Tr. 94:4–94:15; 391:24–392:25; 455:24–456:21; 466:11–467:1; 469:2–22).

Throughout Mr. Jefferies' hospital stay, Dr. Lim's team addressed the surgery and its immediate after effects, while the hospitalists handled broader medical issues such as oxygenation, electrolyte abnormalities, heart issues, diabetes, etc. (Lim Dep. 24:21–25:9); (Nicholas Dep. 13:1–15:5); (Trial Tr. 375:24–376:15; 391:24–392:25). Both Dr. Lim and the hospitalists had to clear Mr. Jefferies for discharge before he could be discharged from the hospital. (*Id.*).

**B. All parties handling Mr. Jefferies' care in the hospital documented their care of him in progress notes, which were completed daily.**

During Mr. Jefferies' hospitalization, Dr. Lim and his physician assistants discussed patient care daily. (Lim Dep. 22:7–9; 37:19–38:8; 45:1–7). PA Lehman completed progress notes for Mr. Jefferies for July 19 and 20, while PA Nicholas completed progress notes for Mr. Jefferies for July 21–26. (Trial Tr. 322:7–322:21; 333:4–334:23); (Nicholas Dep. 12:6–17; 24:17–20; 32:16–17; 36:19–21; 38:14–15; 43:17–21; 44:13–16). Progress notes were completed daily for Mr. Jefferies' stay at the hospital and were all complete before Mr. Jefferies' discharge. (Nicholas Dep. 12:11–17); (Trial Tr. 354:9–12); (Spartanburg Regional Medical records).

In addition to the surgical team, the hospitalists, physical therapists, nurses, and other providers also made notes in the daily progress notes. This is how the different groups overseeing Mr. Jefferies' care communicated with each other. Per her usual practice, PA Nicholas reviewed the most recent hospitalist, therapy, nursing, and other provider notes so the surgical team could continue caring for the patient with the most up-to-date information. (Nicholas Dep. 15:11–17:4). Dr. Lim likewise testified that, in his usual practice, he reviewed and co-signed each physician assistant's notes if he agreed with them and would personally edit a note if he disagreed with its

contents. (Lim Dep. 22:7–9; 38:3–12; 45:1–7; 48:21–49:1).

**C. The daily progress notes demonstrate how the surgical team responded to Mr. Jefferies' limited ambulation while he remained in their care.**

Post-surgery, Mr. Jefferies was not ambulatory and was at risk for DVT and PE. (Nicholas Dep. 20:3–14); (Trial Tr. 139:13–25; 160:13–161:9; 164:7–165:22, 166:13–24; 376:22–377:21). On July 18-21, Dr. Lim and his team initially treated these risks with prophylactic mechanical sequential compression devices (“SCD”). (Nicholas Dep. 17:7–18:19, 36:5–6). These are devices on the legs that compress the legs to increase blood flow. (*Id.*).

On July 22, 2018, Mr. Jefferies was still not ambulating well. As is reflected in the July 22, 2018 daily progress notes, Dr. Lim and PA Nicholas decided to prescribe heparin, a chemical anticoagulant medication that assists with preventing blood clots. They prescribed heparin in addition to continuing treatment with the mechanical SCDs. (Trial Tr. 120:23–121:9); (Nicholas Dep. 19:25–20:19, 36:5–8, 53:7–20). Dr. Lim decided to add heparin because Mr. Jefferies “wasn’t as mobile as we’d like him” to be, and the surgical team could continue to monitor him in the hospital for any adverse effects from the heparin. (Lim Dep. 12:19–13:4).

All parties agree that Dr. Lim’s treatment of Mr. Jefferies with SCDs and heparin while in the hospital was appropriate. (Trial Tr. 247:9-248:12).

**D. By July 26, Mr. Jefferies remained limited in his mobility; however, Spartanburg Regional determined he was ready for discharge to a rehabilitation facility.**

As of July 25, 2018, physical therapy notes reflected that Mr. Jefferies could stand for only about fifteen seconds with two-person assistance, could not weight-shift to take steps, experienced oxygen desaturation with exertion, and had “very limited mobility.” (Lim Dep. 51:1–52:24). On the morning of July 26, 2018, Mr. Jefferies remained immobile and was still being treated with heparin and SCDs to protect against DVT and PE. (Trial Tr. 167:3–10); (Nicholas Dep. 37:18–25; 41:3–6; 44:21–45:3). Mr. Jefferies received his last hospital dose of heparin at 10:09 a.m. on July

26, 2018. (Trial Tr. 425:7–8). Had he remained at Spartanburg Regional, he would have received another dose twelve hours later and would have stayed on heparin and SCDs until the surgical team decided that they were no longer necessary. (Trial Tr. 424:24–425:24); (Nicholas Dep. 81:23–82:6). Spartanburg Regional’s hospitalist service, through Dr. Jeffrey Gudger, medically cleared Mr. Jefferies for discharge to the Peachtree rehabilitation facility. (Trial Tr. 391:24–392:25); (Lim Dep. 14:13–16:3). From a surgical standpoint, Mr. Jefferies was stable for discharge. (*Id.*).

It was common for Dr. Lim to discharge his surgery patients to a rehab facility even if they were not yet ambulating well because the rehabilitation facility should provide more aggressive physical therapy. (Trial Tr. 343:24–345:2); (Nicholas Dep. 47:10–19). Dr. Lim did not continue to prescribe heparin for Mr. Jefferies post-discharge because he expected that the receiving physician at the rehab facility would independently assess him and determine what medications or prophylaxis were appropriate under the care they were to provide. (Trial Tr. 386:23–387:16; 461:18–463:5; 487:1–5); (Nicholas Dep. 49:12–50:25; 78:1–80:20). Further, Dr. Lim expected that the most important and relevant prophylaxis treatment at the rehab center would be increased mobility. (Lim Dep. 29:15–32:3).

**E. Spartanburg Regional’s case-management process, not the surgical team, handled Mr. Jefferies’ transfer records and discharge coordination.**

Transfer of records to the receiving facility was described as part of the hospital case-management process, not a task handled personally by the surgical team. Spartanburg Regional’s hospitalists ordinarily performed the discharge medication reconciliation, and the surgical team relied on hospital case managers to ensure that records and information were sent with the patient to the receiving facility. (Nicholas Dep. 47:20–48:14); (Trial Tr. 341:1–342:25, 355:14–16; 469:2–22). The surgical team deferred to Spartanburg Regional with respect to transmitting records or

instructions to the receiving facility because coordination between the hospital and the facility was handled through the hospital's case-management process. The surgical team had never been tasked with personally sending such records, and everything the surgical team had done would have been reflected in the daily progress notes transmitted to the receiving facility. (Nicholas Dep. 82:17–83:10); (Trial Tr. 341:1–342:25). Spartanburg Regional's protocols and HIPAA requirements likewise required those records to be transmitted through case management or medical records, not by the surgeon's office. (Trial Tr. 403:18–404:15). Further, the surgical team did not personally instruct case management to send the records because that was part of the ordinary, everyday process whereby hospital case managers handled placement and record transmission automatically. (Trial Tr. 345:3–346:17; 352:24–353:17; 355:14–16).

Multiple witnesses testified that the hospital through its case managers had the responsibility of sending hospital records to the receiving facility. (Nicholas Dep. 82:21–24); (Trial Tr. 341:1–342:25; 403:18–404:15; 470:4–472:17; 477:7–21). Regarding the care and treatment of Mr. Jefferies, at the time of discharge, the surgical team's progress notes, hospitalist notes, therapy notes, and nursing notes were all completed; however, the discharge summary itself had not yet been completed. (Trial Tr. 354:9–14).

## **II. Mr. Jefferies' Medical Care at Peachtree**

### **A. Peachtree received a referral packet from Spartanburg Regional, but the packet did not include Mr. Jefferies' records for July 21–26.**

On the afternoon of July 26, 2018, Spartanburg Regional discharged Mr. Jefferies, and he was transported to Peachtree. (Nicholas Dep. 46:25–47:5; 59:3–24); (Trial Tr. 249:22–252:24). The transport documents listed heparin among his medications. (*Id.*). Peachtree's admitting physician and medical director Dr. Ezman did not assess Mr. Jefferies until the following day approximately 24 hours after he was admitted. (Ezman Dep. 7:23–8:10; 17:14–16; 25:13–22).

Prior to his initial assessment, Dr. Ezman typically reviewed referral reports from transferring facilities in order to obtain information the patient might not otherwise provide, and to assess the patient's hospitalization course, medical history, and medications. (*Id.* at 11:8–13:8). Peachtree received a 27-page Skilled Nursing Facility Referral Report from Spartanburg Regional for Mr. Jefferies, and Dr. Ezman testified that such a report was a typical hospital referral document used to summarize the hospitalization course and provide the receiving facility with the patient's history and medications. (*Id.* at 11:22–14:13). However, despite the fact that notes from Dr. Lim's team were available through the date of discharge, the Referral Report only included notes through July 20. At the time, the surgical team, including Dr. Lim and PA Nicholas, were not aware of the omission of these records. (Trial Tr. 341:24–342:10); (Nicholas Dep. 83:7–10). Because the final six days of notes were missing, the "Inpatient Medicines" section of the Referral Report did not reflect anticoagulants, pharmacologic VTE prophylaxis, or any indication that Mr. Jefferies had been on heparin injections during his hospitalization. (Ezman Dep. 13:19–16:1).

If the surgical team's daily progress notes from July 22 through 26 had been included in the Referral Report, it would have documented Mr. Jefferies' heparin treatment. (Trial Tr. 225:16–25); (Nicholas Dep. 36:5–8; 37:18–21; 44:21–45:3). There was no evidence anyone at Peachtree attempted to obtain the additional six days of missing hospital notes. (Trial Tr. 402:16–404:15). Despite the missing records, Dr. Ezman himself could have prescribed heparin for Mr. Jefferies at Peachtree and could have obtained SCDs for Mr. Jefferies if he had deemed them appropriate. (Ezman Dep. 23:1–24:24).

**B. After transfer, Peachtree did not continue prophylaxis or undertake a PE workup before Mr. Jefferies's death.**

On July 27, 2018, Mr. Jefferies experienced shortness of breath and low oxygen saturations of 81%. This caused Dr. Ezman to examine Mr. Jefferies for the first time. After examining Mr.

Jefferies, Dr. Ezman ordered a chest x-ray because of the shortness of breath and decreased oxygen saturation, but the x-ray did not explain the low oxygen saturations or shortness of breath. (Ezman Dep. 27:13–29:23). If a PE were suspected, the appropriate workup would have been a computed tomography angiography (“CTA”) – a specialized imaging test that visualizes blood vessels – and if PE were confirmed, then heparin should have been prescribed. (Trial Tr. 473:3–474:24). But there is no evidence that Peachtree continued Mr. Jefferies’s prophylaxis treatment, including heparin and SCDs, ordered new prophylaxis, or pursued a CTA for Mr. Jefferies. (Trial Tr. 473:3–474:24); (Ezman Dep. 23:1–24:20; 27:13–29:23).

Early in the morning of July 28 around 4:30 a.m., Mr. Jefferies was found unresponsive. He was pronounced dead at approximately 5:14 a.m. Peachtree noted “possible PE” as part of the suspected cause of death, and an autopsy confirmed that Mr. Jefferies died from acute pulmonary thromboembolism. (Ezman Dep. 37:24–39:2); (Trial Tr. 475:1–18); (Trial Joint Ex. 2 and 3).

### **III. Plaintiff’s Allegations and Discovery Concerning Peachtree’s and Dr. Ezman’s Negligence**

On July 9, 2020, Plaintiff Andrea Allen, Mr. Jefferies’ daughter, initiated this action as the Personal Representative of her father’s Estate, naming only Spartanburg Regional Health Services District, Inc., d/b/a Spartanburg Regional Healthcare System, d/b/a Spartanburg Medical Center as a defendant. (Compl.). On September 30, 2020, the Plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint, naming for the first time Dr. Ezman and Peachtree as defendants. (Am. Compl.). On June 29, 2021, the Plaintiff filed a Second Amended Complaint, naming for the first time Chi Hun Lim, M.D., Megan Nicholas, PA, and Carolina Orthopedic and Neurological Associates ASC, LLC (“CONA ASC”) as defendants. (Second Am. Compl.).<sup>1</sup> The Second Amended Complaint continued to name Dr. Ezman

---

<sup>1</sup> In post-trial motions, an issue regarding whether Plaintiff had named and served the correct legal entity arose. Carolina Orthopaedic and Neurosurgical Associates, P.A. is the entity that employed

and Peachtree as defendants. (*Id.*).

In the Second Amended Complaint, the Plaintiff alleges that Dr. Ezman is at fault for Mr. Jefferies' death. (*Id.* at ¶¶ 51, 58). Plaintiff alleges that Dr. Ezman was "negligent and deviated from acceptable standards of care in the following particulars:"

- a. in failing to recognize high risk for DVT/PE development in Mr. Jefferies;
- b. in failing to use adequate DVT/PE prophylaxis;
- c. in failing to properly and timely diagnose DVT/PE;
- d. in such other and further particulars as discovery may disclose.

(*Id.* at ¶ 51). The Complaint alleges that the acts and omissions of Dr. Ezman and Peachtree were direct and proximate causes of Mr. Jefferies' death. (*Id.* at 56).

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