THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Aug 11 2026

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J. Durham Cole, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
The Honorable Grace Knie, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2020-CP-42-02169
Appellate Case No. 2025-001716

Andrea Allen, as Personal Representative
of the Estate of Albert Charles Jefferies Respondent,

v.

Chi Hun Lim, M.D., Megan Nicholas, P.A., Carolina
Orthopedic and Neurosurgical Associates, ASC, LLC Appellants,

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT TO
BRIEF OF CHI HUN LIM, M.D.**

John S. Nichols
Bluestein Thompson Sullivan,
LLC
Post Office Box 7965
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 779-7599

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

One primary purpose of issue preservation rules is to “give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule.” *Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012) (quoting *Queen’s Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp.*, 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006)). A trial court’s opportunity to rule necessarily includes both parties being aware of the nature of the objection such that they may present their best arguments addressing that objection. This then serves another purpose of our rules – “meaningful appellate review.” *Id.* (quoting *Queen’s Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime*, 368 S.C. at 373, 628 S.E.2d at 919). *See, also, Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000) (error preservation requirements are intended to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments).

The trial court’s decision to put both Ms. Allen and Ms. Hemphill on the verdict form for separate verdicts was correct. Even so, the time for Dr. Lim to raise any issue with the verdict form was prior to the verdict, or at the latest while the jury was still assembled after the verdict. That would have allowed the trial court to resubmit a different verdict form to the jury, similar to the “zero verdict” cases. *Cf. Longshore v. Saber Sec. Servs., Inc.*, 365 S.C. 554, 619 S.E.2d 5 (Ct.

App. 2005) (noting when a jury returns an improper “zero” verdict, the proper and most consistent approach is to require, upon request, the trial court to re-submit the matter to the jury). *See, also, Erickson v. Jones St. Publishers, LLC*, 368 S.C. 444, 476, 629 S.E.2d 653, 670 (2006) (“[A] party may not complain on appeal of error or object to a trial procedure which his own conduct has induced.”).

Dr. Lim’s Counsel did not object and in fact Counsel agreed to the verdict form the Court ultimately submitted. (Tr. p. 492, ll. 10-15; p. 591, ll. 15-20). If there was a problem counsel had an obligation to speak up before the verdict, or at the latest before the Court discharged the jury *See, e.g., Dykema v. Carolina Emergency Physicians, P.C.*, 348 S.C. 549, 554, 560 S.E.2d 894, 896 (2002) (“[Our supreme court] has repeatedly held that a party should not be permitted to sit idly by while a verdict erroneous in form is being returned and witness its receipt without objection and later, after the jury has been discharged, claim advantage of the error, thus invited by acquiescence.”). The *Dykema* Court cited the following: *Washington v. Whitaker*, 317 S.C. 108, 451 S.E.2d 894 (1995) (holding that party may not wait until JNOV to object to punitive damage award as the Supreme Court does not recognize a “plain error” rule); *Limehouse v. Southern Ry.*, 216 S.C. 424, 58 S.E.2d 685 (1950) (where verdict is objectionable as to form, party who desires to complain should call that fact to the Court’s attention when the verdict is published; otherwise, the right to do so is waived); *McAlister v. Thomas and Howard Co.*, 116 S.C. 319, 108 S.E. 94 (1921) (defect in the form of a verdict must be presented at the time it is published, and failure to do so waives the right to raise that matter later); *Bethea v. Western Union Telegraph*, 97 S.C. 385, 81 S.E. 675 (1914) (irregularity of jury verdict awarding punitive but no actual damages must be called to the attention of the court at the earliest opportunity;

otherwise it will be deemed to have been waived; waiting until jury separates and then urging irregularity as ground for new trial is too late). This issue, therefore, is not preserved for appellate review.

On the merits, there was no error. Putting both persons on the verdict form resolved tension between the wrongful death statute and the Damages Act. The wrongful death statute provides “Every such action shall be brought by or in the name of the executor or administrator of such person.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-51-20 (Supp. 2025). The Damages Act provides limitations on damages “*for each claimant*, regardless of the number of separate causes of action on which the claim is based, except as provided in subsection (E).” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-32-220(A)-(C) (2005 & Supp. 2025) (emphasis added). Section 15-32-220 (E) is the “grossly negligent” exception to the statutory cap. So while the caption complies with the wrongful death statute, the verdict form that all parties agreed for the Court to submit to the jury permitted the jury to allocate the “each claimant” portion of the damages as contemplated by the Damages Act, which harmonized the two statutes. *See, e.g., Machin v. Carus Corp.*, 419 S.C. 527, 799 S.E.2d 468 (2017) (noting the court has an obligation to harmonize statutory schemes whenever such a construction is consistent with legislative intent; Supreme Court harmonized the Workers’ Compensation Act with the Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act); *Porter v. South Carolina Pub. Serv. Comm’n*, 327 S.C. 220, 224 n. 3, 489 S.E.2d 467, 469 n. 3 (1997) (“Where two statutes can be reconciled and are susceptible of a construction that will render both operative without doing violence to either, it is the duty of the court to so construe them.”). Accordingly, even if this issue was preserved for review (and it is not), the Trial Court’s decision was correct.

Additionally, Rule 49 of the Rules of Civil Procedure provides:

The court may require a jury to return only a special verdict in the form of a special written finding upon each issue of fact. In that event the court may submit to the jury written questions susceptible of categorical or other brief answer or may submit written forms of the several special findings which might properly be made under the pleadings and evidence; or it may use such other method of submitting the issues and requiring the written findings thereon as it deems most appropriate.

Rule 49(a), SCRPC. This Rule permitted the trial court the discretion to submit this apportionment to each claimant to the jury for its resolution in compliance with the Damages Act. *South Carolina Dept. of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of SC.* And again, not only did Dr. Lim not object, his counsel affirmatively agreed to the procedure and use of the verdict form.

Dr. Lim cites to four cases which are meaningfully distinct from this case. For instance, *Ballard v. Ballard*, 314 S.C. 40, 443 S.E.2d 802 (1994) (Lim Br. pp. 44-45), the narrow issue in the case involved the operation of another portion of the wrongful death statute, Section 15-51-40, which currently provides:

In every such action the jury may give damages ... as they may think proportioned to the injury resulting from the death to the parties respectively for whom and for whose benefit such action shall be brought. The amount so recovered shall be divided among the before-mentioned parties in those shares as they would have been entitled to if the deceased had died intestate and the amount recovered had been personal assets of his or her estate....

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-51-40 (Supp. 2025). The Supreme Court construed the statute:

to allow a total recovery equal to those damages proved to have been sustained by the statutory beneficiaries in a wrongful death action; the distribution of the damages among the statutory beneficiaries, however, is controlled strictly by the share each would take as an heir in intestacy regardless of the proportion of the damages suffered by each.

Ballard, at 42, 443 S.E.2d at 803. Nothing in *Ballard* prevented the Court, pursuant to Rule 49,

from using the agreed-upon verdict form in this case.

Dr. Lim cites to *Branham v. Ford Motor Co.*, 390 S.C. 203, 701 S.E.2d 5 (2010) as “consistent” with its arguments. (Lim Br. p. 45). But the issue in *Branham* was an interrogatory that required the jury to apportion fault among *defendants* under the then-existing rules for comparative fault and joint and several liability, which was improper. Dr. Lim admits *Branham* is not “dispositive” of this issue but contends the analysis is “relevant and analogous” (Lim Br. p. 45), but of course there the defendant, Ford, objected on the record. Furthermore, the Court stated “[w]hether Ford was prejudiced by the improper verdict form is speculation, but we address the issue in light of the remand for a new trial (on a different issue).” *Branham*, at 235, 701 S.E.2d at 22. *Branham* does not advance Dr. Lim’s claim that the Trial Court should not have used the verdict form her counsel agreed for the Court to use.

Dr. Lim next cites to *Hern v. Safeco Ins. Co.*, 125 P.3d 597 (Mont. 2005) as “instructive.” (Lim App. Br. pp. 46-47). The case, however, is meaningfully distinct and of questionable continued efficacy and does not aid Dr. Lim’s argument.

Hern involved members of a class action who brought claims arising out of Safeco’s wrongful denial of stacking UM coverage; the underlying case involved the death of Becky Hern. The underlying case involved both wrongful death and survival claims brought by Becky’s mother, Ardell Hern, as Becky’s personal representative. The trial court had submitted a verdict form to the jury that apportioned damages between the two claims and then permitted the jury to further apportion the wrongful death damages between the decedent’s two wrongful death beneficiaries, Ardell and Becky’s father, Robert.

The Supreme Court of Montana first adopted a cause of action for parents to recover for

loss of consortium related to the death of their adult child. *Hern*, 125 P.3d at 608. The Montana Court then noted that under Montana law, the estate's personal representative is authorized to bring the wrongful death action under Montana's Wrongful Death Act. The Court stated:

This statute and its predecessor have been interpreted to mean that *only one* wrongful death action arising out of a wrongful death may be brought and the decedent's personal representative is the only person who may bring such an action. The personal representative holds the proceeds of any damage award for the heirs of the decedent and the award does not become part of the decedent's estate.

Hern, 125 P.2d at 606. The Court added:

In the case before us, Robert was not the personal representative of Becky's estate and, therefore, it was error for the District Court to instruct the jury that it could award damages of any kind to Robert personally, in the wrongful death claim. Therefore, we vacate the \$500,000.00 awarded to Robert as part of the wrongful death claim, \$300,000.00 of which was for grief, sorry, and mental anguish, and \$200,000.00 for loss of consortium.

Id. The Court also removed an award to Ardell for parental loss of consortium based on the evidence. It therefore found it did not need to specifically address Safeco's claim that the trial court abused its discretion in using the special verdict form. *Id.*, at 609.

Importantly, the Court in *Hern* did not have a second statutory scheme to consider similar to the Damages Act in South Carolina. Furthermore, in *Hern*, the defendant Safeco challenged on the record at trial the use of the special verdict form to permit Robert to pursue a separate claim for loss of consortium. The primary challenge was that Montana did not recognize such a claim, and the Court used its analysis of the claim against the backdrop of the wrongful death statute to remove Robert's separate claims from the verdict form.

In this case, only Ms. Allen brought the claims under the wrongful death statute. However, unlike Montana, South Carolina has the Damages Act which provides a cap *for each*

claimant. The trial court, with the agreement of all counsel (including counsel for Dr. Lim), permitted the jury to determine what portion of the damages belonged to each claimant pursuant to Rule 49. There was only one award for wrongful death – \$6,000,000.00 – which the parties agreed the jury could decide how to divide.⁸ *Hern* is, therefore, distinct from this case in very meaningful ways.

Dr. Lim next cites to *Castillo v. Exclusive Builders, Inc.*, 733 N.W.2d 62 (Mich. App. 2007) (Lim App. Br. p. 47), but that case also does not advance Dr. Lim’s position. In *Castillo*, the narrow issue was whether the trial court could order a decedent’s wife, who was the personal representative of his estate, to individually pay sanctions under Michigan’s offer of judgment statute where a jury brought back a defense verdict. The Wife had pled that she brought the case “individually and as personal representative” of her husband’s estate. The Michigan Court of Appeals noted that the wrongful death statute requires the action be “brought by, and in the name of, the personal representative of the estate of the deceased.” *Castillo*, 733 N.W.2d at 65. The Court stated:

* * * *Therefore, plaintiff could not state a claim under the wrongful death*

⁸ The Court should logically reconcile and construe the verdict in this case as a \$6,000,000.00 verdict that the jury allocated to each claimant under the Damages Act as they were instructed to do without objection. See *Orangeburg Sausage Co. v. Cincinnati Ins. Co.*, 316 S.C. 331, 344-345, 450 S.E.2d 66, 74 (Ct. App. 1994), *cert. denied* May 9, 1995 (“It is the duty of the court to sustain a verdict when a logical reason for reconciling the verdict can be found. *Rhodes v. Winn–Dixie Greenville, Inc.*, 249 S.C. 526, 155 S.E.2d 308 (1967); *Haskins v. Fairfield Elec. Co-op.*, 283 S.C. 229, 321 S.E.2d 185 (Ct. App. 1984), *overruled in part on other grounds*, *O’Neal v. Bowles*, 314 S.C. 525, 431 S.E.2d 555 (1993). See also *New York Carpet World v. Houston*, 292 S.C. 101, 354 S.E.2d 924 (Ct. App. 1987) (a jury’s verdict should be affirmed if it is possible to do so and carry into effect the jury’s clear intention; it is the Court of Appeals’s duty to uphold jury verdicts if they can be logically reconciled”).

act in her individual capacity as a matter of law. Accordingly, no individual claim was submitted to the jury; the verdict form lists only damages recoverable by a personal representative under the act. Thus, while plaintiff improperly filed the complaint individually and as the personal representative of her husband's estate, no individual claim, beyond that presented by the estate, was pleaded or pursued at trial. Moreover, defendant's defense at trial consisted entirely of disputing plaintiff's wrongful death claim. Therefore, because there is no evidence that defendant's attorney fees were causally linked in any way to plaintiff's poorly captioned complaint, and thus no indication that defendant incurred any fees necessitated by plaintiff's rejection of the offer of judgment in her individual capacity, the trial court erred in ordering plaintiff to pay attorney fees jointly with plaintiff's husband's estate.

Id. (emphasis added). Placed back into context, then, the quoted language amplifies that only those damages available to a personal representative under a wrongful death claim were submitted to the jury (as they were in this case) so that the individual was not liable to pay in response to the defense's offer of judgment. *That* is the narrow holding of this case.

In this case, the Court charged the jury, "[t]he Personal Representative has a right to recover compensatory damages for wrongful death." (Tr. p. 581, ll. 16-18). The Court then outlined the elements of damages available under a wrongful death claim. (Tr. p. 581, l. 23 - p. 587, l. 6). These were correct statements of the law regarding wrongful death recovery. Even so, as noted above, Dr. Lim did not object to the jury instructions. Thus, as was the case in *Catillo*, the jury considered only those claims and elements of damages in support of the wrongful death claim brought by Ms. Allen as Mr. Jefferies' personal representative, and nothing more.

The Michigan Court in *Castillo* also was dealing only with a claim by the defense for an award of costs and fees against the party in her individual capacity, not as personal representative. There is no indication that any party had objected to the manner in which the case was submitted to the jury or that the Michigan Court had to reconcile a separate statute like the

Damages Act under South Carolina law. Plucking this one sentence from *Castillo*, then, grossly overstates both the holding and usefulness of that opinion.

The Court should hold this issue is not preserved for appellate review. If the Court addresses the merits of the issue, the Court should hold that the trial court properly exercised its discretion pursuant to Rule 49 in permitting the jury to award separate damages “for each claimant” under the statutory cap statute.

IV. The Trial Court (Judge Knie) Correctly Assessed Pre-judgment Interest Against CONA, PA

Standard of Review

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